BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL

 FOR THE PURPOSE OF APPROVING THE METRO
)
 RESOLUTION NO. 19-4956

 AFFORDABLE HOUSING BOND MEASURE PROGRAM WORK
)
)

 PLAN
)
)

 J
 Introduced by Chief Operating

 Officer Martha Bennett with the
)

 Officer Martha Bennett with the

)

President Lynn Peterson

WHEREAS, on June 7, 2018, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 18-4898 ("For the Purpose of Referring to the Metro Area Voters a Ballot Measure Authorizing General Obligation Bond Indebtedness in an Amount Not To Exceed \$652.8 Million to Fund Affordable Housing; and Setting Forth the Official Intent of the Metro Council to Reimburse Certain Expenditures Out of the Proceeds of Said Bonds Upon Issuance"), referring to the Metro area voters a ballot measure authorizing the issuance of general obligation bonds for the purpose of funding affordable housing (the "Housing Bond Measure"); and

WHEREAS, on June 28, 2018, the Metro Council passed Ordinance 18-1423 establishing that affordable housing is a "matter of metropolitan concern" and exercising jurisdiction over functions related thereto; and

WHEREAS, on November 6, 2018, the voters approved the Housing Bond Measure, providing Metro with the authority under the laws of the State of Oregon and the Metro Charter to issue bonds and other obligations payable from ad valorem property taxes for the purpose of financing and identifying funds to be used for affordable housing; and

WHEREAS, since the general election Metro has been collaborating with its jurisdictional partners and stakeholders to develop a regional Housing Bond Measure program, incorporating the goals and outcomes set forth in the Regional Investment Strategy: Affordable Homes for Greater Portland, Metro Chief Operating Officer Recommendation, June 7, 2018, adopted by the Metro Council on June 7, 2018, via Resolution 18-4895; and

WHEREAS, Metro staff now proposes a Metro Housing Bond Measure Program Work Plan which will serve as a framework for the Metro Housing Bond Measure implementation activities; now therefore,

BE IT RESOLVED, that the Metro Council hereby adopts the Metro Housing Bond Measure Program Work Plan, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. ADOPTED by the Metro Council this $\frac{21^{2}}{2000}$ day of $\frac{1}{20000}$ 2019.

Council President Lynn Peterson,

Approved as to Form:

Nathan A. S. Sykes, Acting Metro Attorney

Exhibit A

oregonmetro.gov



Affordable Housing Bond Program Work Plan

Exhibit A

Public service

We are here to serve the public with the highest level of integrity.

Excellence

We aspire to achieve exceptional results

Teamwork

We engage others in ways that foster respect and trust.

Respect

We encourage and appreciate diversity in people and ideas.

Innovation

We take pride in coming up with innovative solutions.

Sustainability

We are leaders in demonstrating resource use and protection.

Metro's values and purpose

We inspire, engage, teach and invite people to preserve and enhance the quality of life and the environment for current and future generations. If you picnic at Blue Lake or take your kids to the Oregon Zoo, enjoy symphonies at the Schnitz or auto shows at the convention center, put out your trash or drive your car – we've already crossed paths.

So, hello. We're Metro - nice to meet you.

In a metropolitan area as big as Portland, we can do a lot of things better together. Join us to help the region prepare for a happy, healthy future.

Stay in touch with news, stories and things to do.

oregonmetro.gov/news

Follow oregonmetro



Metro Council President

Lynn Peterson

Metro Councilors

Shirley Craddick, District 1 Christine Lewis, District 2 Craig Dirksen, District 3 Juan Carlos Gonzales, District 4 Sam Chase, District 5 Bob Stacey, District 6

Auditor

Brian Evans

600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232-2736 503-797-1700

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	2
2.	UNIT PRODUCTION TARGETS AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES	2
3.	GOVERNANCE	3
	3.1 BOND MEASURE; GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND REQUIREMENTS	3
	3.2 METRO COUNCIL	3
3.3	METRO CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER AND STAFF	4
	3.4 LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PARTNERS	4
4.	COMMUNITY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE	4
5.	DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS AND TARGETS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PARTNERS	5
	5.1 ALLOCATION OF BOND FUNDS	5
	5.2 LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES	5
6.	METRO REGIONAL SITE ACQUISITION PROGRAM	6
	6.1 REGIONAL SITE ACQUISITION IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY	6
7.	CAPITAL INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES	7
	7.1 NONGOVERNMENTAL REHABILITATION AND NEW CONSTRUCTION	7
	7.2 PUBLIC REHABILITATION AND NEW CONSTRUCTION	9
	7.3 PROJECT APPROVAL AND FUNDING PROCESS	9
	7.4 REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS	10
8.	AFFORDABILITY COVENANTS AND MONITORING	11
	8.1 METRO AFFORDABILITY COVENANTS	11
	8.2 MONITORING RESPONSIBILITIES	12
9.	PROGRAM OPERATIONS	12
	9.1 PROCEDURES MANUAL	12
	9.2 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - ADMINISTRATIVE COST CAP	13
	9.3 PROGRAM AMENDMENTS	13
EXH	IIBIT A - BOND MEASURE BALLOT TITLE	14
EXH	IIBIT B - BREAKDOWN OF UNIT PRODUCTION TARGETS AND FUNDING ELIGIBILITY	16
EXH	IIBIT C - LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY REQUIREMENTS	18

1. INTRODUCTION

On November 6, 2018, voters approved a \$652.8 million bond measure ("Bond Measure"), directing Metro to fund affordable housing throughout the Metro region. As defined in the Bond Measure, the term "affordable housing" means "land and improvements for residential units occupied by low-income families making 80% or less of area median income." Such housing may be of any type, including but not limited to single-family, multi-family, houses, apartments, and/or the land on which such facilities are located or may be constructed.

In June of 2018, the Metro Council adopted the Metro Chief Operating Officer's recommended program framework, as set forth in Regional Investment Strategy: Affordable Homes for Greater Portland ("Initial Housing Bond Framework"), which included recommendations for unit production goals, commitments to advancing racial equity, and implementation guidelines developed in collaboration with stakeholders, jurisdictions, housing providers and other partners.

This Affordable Housing Program Work Plan ("Work Plan") provides a comprehensive plan for implementing Metro's Bond Measure program (referred to herein as the "Housing Bond Program" or "Program"). This document incorporates and supplements the Initial Housing Bond Framework, and is the governing document for Program implementation, addressing how Bond Measure proceeds will be administered to ensure delivery of the outcomes described in the Bond Measure.

2. UNIT PRODUCTION TARGETS AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES

The primary goal of the Housing Bond Program is create at least **3,900 new affordable homes**, of which:

- At least 1,600 homes will be affordable to households making 30% of area median income (AMI) or below;
- At least 1,950 homes will be sized for families, with 2 or more bedrooms; and
- No more than 10 percent of homes will be provided for households making 61-80% of AMI.

For acquired rental properties, the above targets and cap on homes for households making 61-80% of AMI will be applied upon turnover.

In its efforts to achieve the Program unit production targets referenced above ("Unit Production Targets" or "Targets"), Metro is guided by four principles ("Guiding Principles"), which were derived from (a) existing Metro policies, including the agency's Strategy to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion and (b) conversations with key stakeholders who participated in a six month public process convened prior to the referral of the Bond Measure. Those Guiding Principles are:

1) Lead with racial equity. Ensure that racial equity considerations guide and are integrated throughout all aspects of Program implementation, including community engagement, project location prioritization, tenant screening and marketing, resident and/or supportive services, and inclusive workforce strategies.

- 2) Create opportunity for those in need. Ensure that Program investments serve people currently left behind in the region's housing market, especially: communities of color, families with children and multiple generations, people living with disabilities, seniors, veterans, households experiencing or at risk of homelessness, and households at risk of displacement. Incorporate commitments for tracking and reporting on Program outcomes for people of color and other historically marginalized groups.
- **3) Create opportunity throughout the region**. Ensure that Program investments are distributed across the region to (a) expand affordable housing options in neighborhoods that have not historically included sufficient supply of affordable homes, (b) increase access to transportation, employment, education, nutrition, parks and natural areas, and (c) help prevent displacement in changing neighborhoods where communities of color live today.
- **4)** Ensure long-term benefits and good use of public dollars. Provide for community oversight to ensure transparency and accountability in Program activities and outcomes. Ensure financially sound investments in affordable, high quality homes. Allow flexibility and efficiency to respond to local needs and opportunities, and to create immediate affordable housing opportunities for those in need.

These Guiding Principles will be implemented consistent with applicable requirements of the federal Fair Housing Act and ORS Chapter 659a and, as appropriate, in consultation with the Fair Housing Council of Oregon.

3. GOVERNANCE

3.1 BOND MEASURE; GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND REQUIREMENTS

On June 7, 2018, the Metro Council adopted Resolution 18-4898 referring to Metro area voters the Bond Measure authorizing Metro to issue general obligation bonds in the amount of \$652.8 million to fund affordable housing. The Program and this Work Plan must comply with the promises made to the voters in the Bond Measure. In addition, in accordance with Oregon law, the bond funds may be used only to pay for capital costs, including costs associated with acquisition, construction, improvement, remodeling, furnishing, equipping, maintenance or repair having an expected useful life of more than one year. Bond funds may not be used to pay for general project maintenance and repair, supplies, or equipment that are not intrinsic to a structure or for any other costs that do not meet the definition of "capital costs" under the Oregon Constitution and Oregon law.

3.2 METRO COUNCIL

The Metro Council provides policy direction for the Housing Bond Program through:

- A. Adoption of this Work Plan;
- B. Appointment of Community Oversight Committee members, chair and/or co-chairs, collectively charged with monitoring program implementation;

- C. Approval of Local Implementation Strategies and Metro Regional Site Acquisition Strategy;
- D. Approval of intergovernmental agreements for implementation (each, an "Implementation IGA") with Local Implementation Partners; and
- E. Monitoring of Program outcomes, with guidance from the Community Oversight Committee.

3.3 METRO CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER AND STAFF

The Metro Chief Operating Officer (COO) is authorized by the Metro Council to implement this Work Plan, and the COO will direct staff to conduct all program administration activities referenced herein, including (without limitation) the following:

- A. Acquisition of real property and associated project funding in accordance with the Metro Regional Site Acquisition Strategy and the criteria and conditions set forth in this Work Plan;
- B. Authorization of Metro Bond Measure funding for projects and program administration activities of Local Implementation Partners in accordance with the criteria and conditions set forth in this Work Plan; and
- C. Convening meetings and providing administrative support for the Community Oversight Committee.

3.4 LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PARTNERS

Government agencies that are eligible to become Local Implementation Partners include counties, public housing authorities, and cities with populations over 50,000 that receive and administer their own federal Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding. To be eligible to receive Metro Bond Measure funds, Local Implementation Partners that receive Bond funding must:

- A. Adopt a Local Implementation Strategy, informed by community engagement, that includes a development plan to achieve the unit production targets, a strategy for advancing racial equity, and ensuring community engagement in implementation (see Section 5.2 and Exhibit C);
- B. Enter into an Implementation IGA with Metro, obligating the Local Implementation Partner to comply with this Work Plan and enter into certain covenants required to ensure compliance with the Bond Measure and other applicable law; and
- C. Provide adequate assurances to Metro that Metro Bond Measure funds will be expended solely to make permitted capital investments to create affordable housing in accordance with this Work Plan.

4. COMMUNITY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

In accordance with Metro Code Section 2.19, Metro will appoint a Community Oversight Committee ("Oversight Committee") to ensure Program transparency and accountability. The Oversight Committee will be charged with the following duties:

- A. Review local implementation strategies and Metro's Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy for alignment with the Guiding Principles and clear plan to achieve the local share of Unit Production Targets, and recommend strategies for Metro Council approval; and
- B. Monitor program expenditures and outcomes and provide an annual report and presentation to Metro Council. The Committee may recommend changes to implementation strategies as necessary to achieve Unit Production Targets and adhere to the Guiding Principles.

Metro staff will consult members of the Community Oversight Committee as needed to advise on projects prior to the Metro COO's authorization of funding.

5. DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS AND TARGETS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PARTNERS

The Housing Bond Program is guided by regional goals and oversight, but implemented by the Local Implementation Partners, who are best positioned to respond to community affordable housing needs. Successful implementation requires flexibility for local jurisdictions to create and nimbly pursue strategies that respond to local community priorities and market contexts. Metro and the Local Implementation Partners must work together to ensure that Local Implementation Strategies, actions and investments advance desired regional outcomes that honor the commitments made to the region's voters.

5.1 ALLOCATION OF BOND FUNDS

Metro Bond Measure funds will be allocated to Local Implementation Partners on the basis of assessed value of property, as described in Exhibit B. Except for permitted Program administration funding disbursements, Program funds will be committed and disbursed on a project-by-project basis following execution of Implementation IGAs. Distribution of Bond Measure funds will be conditioned on a Local Implementation Partner's ongoing demonstration of progress toward its assigned share of the Unit Production Targets set forth in Exhibit B.

5.2 LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES

To be eligible to receive Bond Measure funds, a Local Implementation Partner must create a Local Implementation Strategy outlining strategies for achieving its allocated share of Unit Production Targets. Each Local Implementation Strategy will be aligned with the Guiding Principles.

Each Local Implementation Strategy must include the following components, described in more detail in Exhibit C:

- A. Development Plan to achieve the Unit Production Targets, including criteria and selection process(es);
- B. Strategy for advancing racial equity throughout implementation;

- C. Engagement report summarizing how stakeholder input shaped the development of the Local Implementation Strategy; and
- D. Plan for ongoing community engagement to inform project implementation.

Approval and Revision Process

The Community Oversight Committee will review Local Implementation Strategies and recommend them for approval by the Metro Council. One Local Implementation Strategies have been approved by local governing bodies and Metro Council, they will be incorporated into Implementation IGAs.

As needed, the Oversight Committee and/or Local Implementation Partners may recommend changes to Local Implementation Strategies based on annual evaluation of Program outcomes. Local Implementation Strategies may be revised only following approval by the Metro Council and local governing bodies.

6. METRO REGIONAL SITE ACQUISITION PROGRAM

The Regional Site Acquisition Program will seek to support Local Implementation Partners in achieving the overall Unit Production Targets. Program funds will be used to purchase regionally significant sites and may be used to help ensure subsequent project development.

6.1 REGIONAL SITE ACQUISITION IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY

Up to ten percent of Bond Measure funds will be retained by Metro for the Regional Site Acquisition Program. Metro will create a Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy outlining commitments and strategies for ensuring that regional site acquisitions are coordinated with Local Implementation Partners to support regional progress toward Unit Production Targets. The Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy will be aligned with the Guiding Principles.

The Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy must include the following components, consistent with applicable required elements of Local Implementation Strategies, as described in Exhibit C:

- A. Development plan including criteria and selection process(es), including a process for engaging relevant Local Implementation Partners;
- B. Strategy for advancing racial equity throughout implementation, in alignment with applicable Local Implementation Strategy approaches; and
- C. Engagement report summarizing how stakeholder input shaped the development of the Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy.

Metro will engage Local Implementation Partners throughout the development of the Regional Site Acquisition Strategy to ensure alignment and coordination with Local Implementation Strategies and approaches.

Approval and Revision Process

The Community Oversight Committee will review the Regional Site Acquisition Implementation and recommend such strategy for approval by Metro Council.

As needed, the Oversight Committee and/or Metro staff may recommend changes to the Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy based on annual evaluation of Program outcomes. The Regional Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy may be revised only following approval by the Metro Council.

7. CAPITAL INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Affordable housing projects proposing to use Bond Measure funds must be selected using a process and criteria consistent with the applicable Local Implementation Strategy and/or Metro Site Acquisition Implementation Strategy. Funding will be authorized by the Metro COO based on consistency with applicable strategy and compliance with this Work Plan. Metro staff will consult members of the Community Oversight Committee as needed to advise on projects prior to authorization of funding by the COO.

Once a project is approved by the Metro COO, Bond Measure funds will be released to the Local Implementation Partner in accordance with the terms of the Implementation IGA, which may require the release of funds in stages upon completion of construction and development benchmarks. Local Implementation Partners may directly utilize the Bond Measure funds for public improvement projects, or loan, grant or otherwise contribute these funds to a non-governmental entity, such as a Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) Partnership or LLC for private projects.

7.1 NONGOVERNMENTAL REHABILITATION AND NEW CONSTRUCTION

Local Implementation Partners may contribute Metro Bond Measure funds to private for-profit and nonprofit development entities to pay for new construction of privately owned affordable housing or for the acquisition and rehabilitation of existing market rate/unregulated housing being converted to regulated affordable housing. Bond Measure funds may be contributed to projects as either the primary source of project funding or as "gap funding" as described below.

Gap Funding

Local Implementation Partners may use Bond Measure funds to provide grants and make loans to qualified private for-profit or nonprofit entities developing, owning and operating affordable housing projects, including LIHTC Partnerships or LLCs, to assist these entities in closing funding gaps between all other available sources of funding (including but not limited to LIHTC equity, senior secured project indebtedness, other state and local loan and grant proceeds and programs, and private and/or philanthropic sources), and the actual project development and construction costs. Local Implementation Partners may provide Bond Measure funds to such private entities in the form of loans or grants. Loans may be "cash-flow-only," or "soft loans" and may include below market or no interest, non-recourse, extended amortization or fully "forgivable" repayment terms.

Affordable Housing Bond Program Work Plan | January 2019

Eligible Costs

Bond Measure funds may be used to pay for qualified capital costs associated with the following:

- Construction of new affordable housing for households earning 80% area median income (AMI) or less;
- Acquisition and rehabilitation of residential buildings with no existing form of public affordability restriction;
- Construction of new affordable housing as part of the redevelopment of a residential property with existing public affordability restrictions, as long as the redevelopment results in a substantial net increase in the total number of affordable homes. In such cases, Program funding may only be used for the portion of new homes that are not replacing regulated affordable homes currently on the site and related project/site improvements, such as parking, infrastructure improvements, and community space;
- Construction of ancillary commercial space, community space, and resident amenities, as long as ancillary spaces and amenities are part of buildings that contribute toward Unit Production Targets;
- All necessary and required site work and infrastructure for the above projects;
- Predevelopment costs, including third party reports, design studies, financial modeling and community outreach, which may be reimbursed upon closing of construction financing of an affordable housing project. Prior to closing, these costs are an eligible use of bond program administration funding, but will count toward administrative funding caps prior to reimbursement through a project closing; and
- Administrative costs that comply with requirements laid out in Section 9.2.

Ineligible Costs

Bond proceeds must be used to finance projects that constitute capital construction, capital improvement or a capital cost as those terms are defined by the relevant provisions or the Oregon Constitution, Oregon law (including ORS 310.140) and the parameters of the Bond Measure.

Costs that are ineligible for bond funding include but are not limited to:

- Acquisition of housing with existing public affordability restrictions;
- Rehabilitation of housing with existing public affordability restrictions;
- Redevelopment of residential properties with existing public affordability restrictions that does not result in a substantial net increase in the number of affordable homes on the site;
- Project operating costs, including the provision of resident support services;
- Rental assistance; and
- Administrative costs that do not comply with requirements laid out in Section 9.2.

7.2 PUBLIC REHABILITATION AND NEW CONSTRUCTION

Local Implementation Partners may utilize Bond Measure funds only to pay qualified capital costs to develop, finance, construct and equip new affordable housing and to acquire and rehabilitate market rate housing with no existing public affordability restriction for conversion to affordable housing with a public affordability restriction. Metro housing bond funds may not be used to acquire and/or rehabilitate any housing with an existing public affordability restriction.

Eligible and ineligible costs are set forth in Section 7.1, above.

7.3 PROJECT APPROVAL AND FUNDING PROCESS

The Metro COO will approve funding commitments for all qualified projects identified by Local Implementation Partners at two stages: (1) a Concept Endorsement and (2) a Final Approval. The Concept Endorsement is a preliminary commitment of funding on the basis of consistency of the early project concept with the Local Implementation Strategy. The Concept Endorsement is optional for acquisition and rehabilitation projects (to be pursued at the Local Implementation Partner's discretion), but is mandatory for new construction projects.

Stage 1: Concept Endorsement (optional for acquisition/rehabilitation; required for new construction) The Metro COO will provide Concept Endorsements for preliminary development and acquisition/rehabilitation projects. Presented concepts should consist of, at minimum, an identified site which the Local Implementation Partner or the private developer/sponsor controls, a preliminary development or rehabilitation plan, a preliminary unit and affordability mix, preliminary estimates of total development costs, preliminary estimate of requested Metro Housing bond funds and an identified development team.

The Concept Endorsement will be made based upon the following criteria:

- Endorsement of Local Implementation Partner;
- Concept's contribution to Unit Production Targets relative to requested amount of bond funding *or* demonstration of how proposed project will contribute to Local Implementation Partner's portfolio of planned or completed projects to achieve the local share of Unit Production Targets; and
- Consistency with Local Implementation Strategy.

Stage 2: Funding Authorization and Release of Funds

The Metro COO will authorize project funding only after a finalized development program, design development drawings and confirmed funding sources have been provided. Metro staff will consult members of the Community Oversight Committee as needed to advise on projects prior to authorization of funding by the COO. The Metro COO's authorization of funding will be based on the satisfaction of the following criteria:

• Continued support for the project by Local Implementation Partner;

- Development program's contribution to Unit Production Targets (including affordability and bedroom size targets) relative to requested amount of bond funding; *or* demonstration of how proposed project will contribute to Local Implementation Partner's portfolio of planned or completed projects to achieve the local share of Unit Production Targets;
- Consistency with Local Implementation Strategy; and
- Provision of requested documentation to demonstrate project feasibility.

Prior to the release of funds to the Implementation Partner, a Regulatory Agreement (as defined below) approved by the Office of the Metro Attorney and meeting the criteria described further in Section 8.1 will be executed. The Regulatory Agreement will be recorded against the property at or prior to the time of closing.

7.4 REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS

Bond funds may be used by Metro or Local Implementation Partners to acquire real property (including land and buildings) for the development, rehabilitation, or adaptive reuse as affordable housing consistent with this Work Plan (hereinafter referred to as "Property Acquisitions").

Property Acquisition costs that may be paid for with Bond funds include the purchase price and all costs related to pre-purchase due diligence including appraisals, purchase of options, earnest money for purchase and sale agreements, environmental assessments, geotechnical reports, preliminary development cost estimates, zoning capacity studies, physical capital needs assessments for acquired buildings, and other third party reports. Eligible pre-purchase due diligence costs will be reimbursed to Local Implementation Partners only upon completion of the Property Acquisition, although bond Program Administration funds may be applied to due diligence costs prior to reimbursement.

Bond Measure funds may also be loaned or granted to projects sited on real property previously acquired by a project sponsor or Local Implementation Partner using non-Bond funds. For these projects, the costs of previous real property acquisition will be included in overall project costs, subject to Metro appraisal requirements.

Property Acquisition Parameters

Bond Measure funds may be used for Property Acquisition provided the following criteria are met:

- The property is owned by a willing seller;
- An appraised value has been obtained in accordance with applicable Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) standards. In general, the purchase price should not exceed 10 percent over appraised value. However, exceptions may be made at the discretion of the Metro COO if it can be demonstrated that the site presents unique opportunities to advance the Unit Production Targets and Guiding Principles;
- The anticipated project on the site will contribute proportionately to Unit Production Targets (including affordability and bedroom size targets) relative to the forecasted bond funding; or the Local Implementation Partner demonstrates how the anticipated project will contribute to that

Partner's portfolio of planned or completed projects to achieve the local share of Unit Production Targets;

- The property consists of a development-ready site, with zoned capacity to support the preliminary development concept, road access, utility connections, buildable soils, and mitigation plan for any environmental conditions; and
- The acquisition is consistent with the applicable Implementation Strategy.

The requirement for zoned capacity, utility connections, and other infrastructure improvements may be waived in cases where an approved plan provides for needed improvements and such improvements are expected within two years.

Funding Authorization and Release of Funds

Funding authorizations for Property Acquisitions will be authorized by the Metro COO. Metro staff will consult members of the Community Oversight Committee as needed to advise on projects prior to authorization of funding by the COO.

Prior to the release of funds, a Regulatory Agreement (as defined in Section 8.1) will be recorded against the property at or prior to the time of closing. The Local Implementation Partner will provide a copy of the recorded Regulatory Agreement to Metro promptly after closing.

8. AFFORDABILITY COVENANTS AND MONITORING

8.1 METRO AFFORDABILITY COVENANTS

Each Implementation IGA will require that a regulatory agreement or similar affordability/restrictive covenant (the "Regulatory Agreement"), in form and substance acceptable to Metro, must be recorded on the title of every property that receives Bond project funding. The Regulatory Agreement will acknowledge the use of Bond Measure funds and the restrictions associated with the use of such funds, including the affordability restrictions and other policies upon which the funding was conditioned, provide monitoring and access rights to Metro, and be enforceable by the Local Implementation Partner and Metro.

The Regulatory Agreement will have a term of not less than 60 years for newly constructed projects and existing market-rate projects that are converted to affordable/regulated projects, except in the case of converted projects where the project is more than 10 years old at the date of acquisition, in which case the minimum term will be not less than 30 years. The Regulatory Agreement will provide a first right of refusal for qualified nonprofit organizations or government entities to acquire the project upon expiration of the affordability period.

In the case of Property Acquisitions, the Regulatory Agreement will ensure development of the property consistent with the requirements set forth in this Work Plan.

8.2 MONITORING RESPONSIBILITIES

Owners of private projects receiving Bond Measure funds will be required to enter into a Regulatory Agreement, or similar agreement for the benefit of both Metro and the Local Implementation Partner, to periodically provide tenant income verification data to ensure compliance with affordability restrictions. Project owners will also be required to provide certain information, including voluntarily collected tenant demographic data, to support evaluation of program outcomes. Finally, owners will be required to provide Metro with access to asset management data, including financial performance and physical condition of the project, and to provide physical access to the property when requested by Metro and/or the Local Implementation Partner. Metro will work with Local Implementation Partners, Oregon Housing and Community Services, or other public agencies to develop shared monitoring and reporting requirements and functions that align with established funding programs, including LIHTC.

9. **PROGRAM OPERATIONS**

9.1 PROCEDURES MANUAL

A Program procedures manual ("Procedures Manual") will be maintained by Metro to support fair and consistent consideration of Program funding requests, clear standards for reporting on Program outcomes, and continuous improvements in Program operations. Revisions to the Procedures Manual require Planning and Development Department Director approval.

The Affordable Housing Program procedures will include, at a minimum, guidance related to:

- 1. *Funding Guidelines*: Guidelines related to performance targets relative to the amount of Bond Funds contributed to a project and standards for replacement reserve funding;
- 2. *Risk Controls*: Preconditions for contractual commitments and release of funds, procedures for funding disbursement and monitoring during project construction, and recurring investment policies;
- 3. *Project Documentation Checklists and Templates*: List of required documents for Property Acquisition, Concept Endorsement, and Project Funding Authorization;
- 4. *Local Implementation Partner and Metro Site Acquisition Program Reporting*: Metrics, protocol, and templates for Local Implementation Partners and Metro's Site Acquisition Program to submit annual reports on program outcomes for review by the Community Oversight Committee; and
- 5. *Local Implementation Partner Administration Funding Guidelines*: Protocol and templates for Local Implementation Partners to submit a work plan in order to receive administrative funding at the beginning of each fiscal year, including requirements for end-of-year reporting to demonstrate compliance with this Work Plan.

9.2 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - ADMINISTRATIVE COST CAP

Bond Measure funds must be used to pay for or reimburse prior expenditures that constitute qualified capital costs, consistent with the requirements of the Bond Measure, the Oregon Constitution and other applicable law.

The purpose and focus of the Affordable Housing Program is to expand the region's supply of affordable housing. Consistent with requirements set forth in the Bond Measure, no more than five percent of total Bond Measure proceeds may be expended on administrative costs associated with the implementation of Program activities, including Program development and administration, financial administration, and monitoring and oversight functions prior to the completion of the Unit Production Targets. All administrative and Program costs funded with Metro Bond Measure proceeds must be capital costs, as defined by the Oregon Constitution and Oregon Statutes, allocable to affordable housing projects.

Subject to compliance with Oregon law and the Bond Measure, Local Implementation Partners are eligible to receive funding for administrative costs associated with Program implementation according to the distribution described in Exhibit B. Each Local Implementation Partner must submit a spending plan for the allocated annual funds and a report demonstrating use of the previous year's funding by April 1 of each year, including certifying that Metro Bond Measure funds have been and will be applied solely to the payment or reimbursement of capital costs consistent with Oregon law and the Bond Measure. Once Metro has approved the spending plan, funding will be released on or after July 1 for the fiscal year commencing on July 1 and ending the following June 30. A partial year allocation will be made available to eligible Local Implementation Partners for FY2018-19 in February 2019. In order to maintain eligibility to receive Metro Bond Measure funds in advance for program implementation activities, all administrative expenditures must result in funding authorization for bond-funded affordable housing projects or assets within three years from the date of disbursement.

9.3 PROGRAM AMENDMENTS

This Work Plan may be amended, as needed, by Metro staff with approval of the Metro Council to ensure compliance with Bond Measure covenants, applicable law, achievement of Unit Production Goals, and alignment with Guiding Principles.

EXHIBIT A BOND MEASURE BALLOT TITLE

Attachment to SEL 805

Caption:	Bonds to fund affordable housing in Washington, Clackamas, Multnomah counties.
Question:	Shall Metro issue bonds, fund affordable housing for low-income families, seniors, veterans, people with disabilities; require independent oversight, annual audits? If the bonds are approved, they will be payable from taxes on property or property ownership that are not subject to the limits of sections 11 and 11b, Article XI of the Oregon Constitution
Summary:	Measure authorizes \$652.8 million in general obligation bonds to fund affordable housing in Washington, Clackamas, and Multnomah counties.
	Bonds will be used to build affordable housing for low-income households; purchase, rehabilitate, and preserve affordability of existing housing; buy land for affordable housing; help prevent displacement.
	Affordable housing means land and improvements for residential units occupied by low-income households making 80% or less of area median income, which in 2018 for a family of four was \$65,120; improvements may include a mix of unit sizes, spaces for community and resident needs and services. Some units will be accessible for people with disabilities and seniors; flexibility for existing tenants and hardship.
	Requires community oversight and independent financial audits. Creates affordable housing function for Metro, implemented by Metro and local housing partners. Local and regional administrative costs capped at 5% of bond proceeds. Bond costs estimated at \$0.24 per \$1,000 of assessed value annually, approximately \$5.00/month for the average homeowner. Bonds may be issued over time in multiple series.
Explanatory Statement:	In the Metro region, rents and housing prices are rising faster than wages. Between 2010 and 2016, the median income for a renter increased 19% while the average rent increased 52%. The need for affordable housing continues to increase, with demand for affordable housing outpacing supply. This is especially true for people on fixed incomes, working families, and seniors and disabled people in our region.
	This measure will authorize Metro to issue \$652.8 million in general obligation bonds to provide affordable housing for low-income families, seniors, veterans and

people with disabilities in the Metro region which includes Washington, Clackamas
and Multnomah counties.
The bond funds will be used to build affordable housing for low-income households,
-
to purchase and rehabilitate existing housing to preserve its affordability and
prevent displacement, and to buy land for the immediate or future construction of
new affordable housing.
The measure will create an offerdable bousing function for Metro, and will be
The measure will create an affordable housing function for Metro, and will be
implemented by Metro and local governments. The administrative costs of Metro
and local housing providers paid for by the measure will not exceed 5% of bond
funds. Metro may issue the bonds over time in multiple series. Metro estimates
that the cost of the measure to the average homeowner to be 24 cents per \$1,000
of assessed value annually, or approximately \$5.00/month. An independent
community oversight committee will review bond expenditures and provide annual
reports, and an independent public accounting firm will perform an annual financial
audit of the expenditure of bond funds.
For purposes of the bond measure, "Affordable Housing" means land and
improvements for residential units occupied by low-income households making 80%
or less of the area median income, which in 2018 for a family of four was \$65,120.
The improvements constructed or purchased with bond funds may be composed of
a mix of unit sizes, and may include spaces for community and resident needs and
services, such as, without limitation, spaces for childcare services, healthcare
services, grocery, onsite utility and building facilities, and other commercial, office
and retail uses. Some units will be accessible for people with disabilities and
seniors. The income eligibility rules may provide for a waiver or temporary relief
from the limitations on qualifying income, if needed to avoid undue hardship or
displacement of persons living in existing housing.

On behalf of:

Metro Council President Tom Hughes Councilor Shirley Craddick Councilor Betty Dominguez Councilor Craig Dirksen Councilor Kathryn Harrington Councilor Sam Chase Councilor Bob Stacey

Submitted by: Metro Council President Tom Hughes

EXHIBIT B

BREAKDOWN OF UNIT PRODUCTION TARGETS AND FUNDING ELIGIBILITY

Distribution of targets and eligible project and administration funding*

	Percent of assessed value	Unit Production Targets**				
Jurisdiction		Total	30% AMI	Family- Size	 Total Project Funding Available 	Total Admin. Funding Available***
Beaverton	5.58%	218	89	109	\$31,140,595	\$655,591
Clackamas County	20.82%	812	333	406	\$116,188,094	\$2,446,065
Gresham	4.79%	187	77	93	\$26,756,995	\$563,305
Hillsboro	7.28%	284	117	142	\$40,657,081	\$855,939
Home Forward (balance of Multnomah County)	2.84%	111	46	55	\$15,879,123	\$334,297
Portland	37.81%	1,475	605	737	\$211,056,579	\$4,443,296
Washington County (balance of county)	20.87%	814	334	407	\$116,465,532	\$2,451,906
Metro Site Acquisition Program****	n/a	Contributes to above targets			\$62,016,000	\$1,305,600
Metro accountability and financial transaction costs	n/a	n/a		n/a	\$13,056,000	
Reserved for future allocation as determined necessary to achieve targets	n/a	n/a			n/a	\$6,528,000
Total	100%	3,900	1,600	1,950	\$620,016,000	\$32,640,000

*The Initial Housing Bond Framework calls for distribution of targets and funding to counties on the basis of assessed value, but provides flexibility for how partners within each county further distribute targets and funding. If an alternative distribution is not agreed to by partners for distribution of funding within a county, assessed value will be used as the basis of distribution to all partners.

** For acquired rental properties, the targets and cap on homes for households making 61-80% of AMI will be applied upon turnover.

*** Any administrative funding from bond proceeds must be consistent with the requirements of Oregon law and the Bond Measure and Metro will, in consultation with bond and tax counsel, request certification from jurisdictions that proceeds are being applied to qualified capital costs.

**** The Regional Site Acquisition Program aims to distribute investments proportionately across the region to support local progress toward the Unit Production Targets. In the event that regional investments are not proportionately distributed, the above Unit Production Targets may be adjusted pursuant to a Work Plan amendment.

EXHIBIT C

LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY REQUIREMENTS

- 1. Development Plan to achieve the Unit Production Targets that includes the following elements:
 - Anticipated number, size, and range of project types (estimates are acceptable) and cost containment strategies to achieve local share of unit production targets (including 30% AMI and family-size unit goals and the cap on units at 61-80% AMI) using local share of eligible funding;
 - b. Consideration for how new bond program investments will complement existing regulated affordable housing supply and pipeline;
 - c. Goals and/or initial commitments for leveraging additional capital and ongoing operating and/or service funding necessary to achieve the local share of Unit Production Targets;
 - d. Strategy for aligning resident or supportive services with housing investments, including [optional] any local goals or commitments related to permanent supportive housing; and
 - e. Description of project selection process(es) and prioritization criteria, including anticipated timing of competitive project solicitations and how existing or new governing or advisory bodies will be involved in decisions regarding project selection.
- 2. Strategy for advancing racial equity in implementation that includes:
 - a. Location strategy that considers geographic distribution of housing investments, access to opportunity, strategies to address racial segregation, and strategies to prevent displacement and stabilize communities;
 - b. Fair housing strategies and/or policies to eliminate barriers in accessing housing for communities of color and other historically marginalized communities, including people with low incomes, seniors and people with disabilities, people with limited English proficiency, immigrants and refugees, and people who have experienced or are experiencing housing instability;
 - c. Strategies and/or policies, such as goals or competitive criteria related to diversity in contracting or hiring practices, to increase economic opportunities for people of color; and
 - d. Requirements or competitive criteria for projects to align culturally specific programming and supportive services to meet the needs of tenants.
- 3. Engagement report summarizing engagement activities, participation and outcomes, including:
 - a. Engagement activities focused on reaching communities of color and other historically marginalized communities, including people with low incomes, seniors and people with disabilities, people with limited English proficiency, immigrants and refugees, and people who have experienced or are experiencing housing instability;
 - b. Summary of key community engagement themes related to local housing needs and priority outcomes for new affordable housing investments, approach to geographic distribution and location strategies, acknowledgement of historic/current inequitable

access to affordable housing and opportunities for stakeholders to identify specific barriers to access, and opportunities to advance racial equity through new investments;

- c. Summary of how the above themes are reflected in the Local Implementation Strategy.
- 4. Plan to ensure ongoing community engagement to inform project implementation, including:
 - a. Strategies for ensuring that ongoing engagement around project implementation reaches communities of color and other historically marginalized community members, including: people with low incomes, seniors and people with disabilities, people with limited English proficiency, immigrants and refugees, existing tenants in acquired buildings, and people who have experienced or are experiencing housing instability; and
 - b. Strategy for ensuring community engagement to shape project outcomes to support the success of future residents.

IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 19-4956, FOR THE PURPOSE OF APPROVING THE METRO AFFORDABLE HOUSING BOND MEASURE PROGRAM WORK PLAN

Date: Jan. 17, 2019 Department: Planning, GAPD Meeting date: Jan. 31, 2019 Prepared by: Emily Lieb Presenter(s): Elissa Gertler Length: 15 min.

ISSUE STATEMENT

On Nov. 6, 2018, Metro-area voters approved a \$652.8 million regional general obligation bond to create affordable homes for thousands of people in our communities (the "Housing Bond Measure"). On June 7, 2018, following its referral of the bond measure to voters, the Metro Council adopted the Metro Chief Operating Officer's recommended program framework, as set forth in Regional Investment Strategy: Affordable Homes for Greater Portland ("Initial Housing Bond Framework"). This framework includes policy guidance related to unit production targets, commitments to advancing racial equity, and implementation guidelines developed in collaboration with stakeholders, jurisdictions, housing providers and other partners.

To create these homes and deliver the results promised to voters, staff seeks Metro Council adoption of the Housing Bond Measure Program Work Plan attached as Exhibit A to the Resolution (the "Work Plan"). The Work Plan will be the governing document for how bond funding will be administered to ensure delivery of the outcomes described in the Housing Bond Measure and Initial Housing Bond Framework. The Work Plan sets forth expectations for implementing jurisdictions to develop local implementation strategies, which will further define local approaches to achieving the outcomes in the Framework. Implementing jurisdictions may bring forward "phase 1" projects for funding in FY2019, prior to the completion of local implementation strategies, so approval of those "phase 1" projects would be outside the parameters of the Work Plan and would come before the Metro Council for specific funding approval.

ACTION REQUESTED

Adopt resolution approving Housing Bond Measure Work Plan (attached as Exhibit A to the Resolution).

IDENTIFIED POLICY OUTCOMES

As described in the Initial Housing Bond Framework adopted by Metro Council on June 7, 2018 (Resolution No. 18-4895), the primary goal of the Housing Bond Measure program is to **create at least 3,900 new affordable homes**, of which:

- At least 1,600 homes will be affordable to households making 30% of area median income (AMI) or below;
- At least 1,950 homes will be sized for families, with two or more bedrooms;
- No more than ten percent of homes will be provided for households making 61-80% of area median income.

For acquired rental properties, the above targets and cap on homes for households making 61-80% of area median income will be applied upon turnover of the unit.

In its efforts to achieve the housing production outcomes described above, Metro is guided by the following four principles, which were derived from (a) existing Metro policies, including the agency's Strategy to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion and (b) conversations with key stakeholders who participated in a six-month public process convened prior to the referral of the Bond Measure:

- 1) **Lead with racial equity**. Ensure that racial equity considerations guide and are integrated throughout all aspects of program implementation, including community engagement, project location prioritization, tenant screening and marketing, resident and/or supportive services, and inclusive workforce strategies.
- 2) **Create opportunity for those in need**. Ensure that program investments serve people currently left behind in the region's housing market, especially: communities of color, families with children and multiple generations, people living with disabilities, seniors, veterans, households experiencing or at risk of homelessness, and households at risk of displacement. Incorporate commitments for tracking and reporting on program outcomes for people of color and other historically marginalized groups.
- 3) **Create opportunity throughout the region**. Ensure that program investments are distributed across the region to (a) expand affordable housing options in neighborhoods that have not historically included sufficient supply of affordable homes, (b) increase access to transportation, employment, education, nutrition, parks and natural areas, and (c) help prevent displacement in changing neighborhoods where communities of color live today.
- 4) **Ensure long-term benefits and good use of public dollars**. Provide for community oversight to ensure transparency and accountability in program activities and outcomes. Ensure financially sound investments in affordable, high quality homes. Allow flexibility and efficiency to respond to local needs and opportunities, and to create immediate affordable housing opportunities for those in need.

POLICY QUESTION(S)

Does the proposed work plan provide the structure necessary to deliver on commitments made to voters in Measure 26-199 and the desired outcomes identified in the Initial Housing Bond Framework adopted by the Metro Council in June 2018?

POLICY OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL TO CONSIDER

- Approve the work plan by adopting Resolution No. 19-4956: This will begin the next phase of the Housing Bond Measure program implementation, during which Metro and implementation partners will develop implementation strategies in accordance with the requirements set forth in the Work Plan.
- Propose revisions to the Work Plan to meet desired Council objectives and outcomes. Depending on the extent of revisions, this could delay of program implementation as Metro staff will need to recirculate and obtain feedback from local implementation partners.

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS

Staff recommends adoption of Resolution No. 19-4956.

STRATEGIC CONTEXT & FRAMING COUNCIL DISCUSSION

The proposed Work Plan provides an operational framework for how Metro and the local implementation jurisdictions will work together to implement the Housing Bond Measure program to achieve the desired outcomes.

The proposed Work Plan is based on numerous policies previously adopted by the Metro Council, including but not limited to:

- Resolution No. 18-4895, adopting the Initial Housing Bond Framework for implementation of the regional affordable housing bond
- Resolution No. 18-4898, referring the affordable housing bond measure to Metro District voters
- Ordinance No. 18-1423, For the Purpose of Determining that Affordable Housing is a Matter of Metropolitan Concern and Undertaking an Affordable Housing Function

Following voter approval of the Housing Bond Measure, Metro staff began a focused period of engagement with jurisdictional partners and stakeholders to inform the completion of the proposed Work Plan. Engagement has included a reconvening of the stakeholder and technical advisory table members that informed the framework; community roundtables to discuss specific elements of the work plan, such as requirements and best practices for community engagement and advancing racial equity, as well as the program's approach to community oversight; a discussion with MPAC on Nov. 28, 2018; regular updates with key stakeholder groups; and frequent, ongoing meetings and workshops with key staff from jurisdictions that would implement the bond to discuss the work plan's contents.

Organizations and individuals engaged during this phase included the following.

Organizations:

- IRCO
- Urban League
- APANO
- JOIN
- Oregon Food Bank
- Coalition of Communities of Color
- Latino Network
- The Rosewood Initiative
- Central City Concern
- Opal Environmental Justice Oregon
- Momentum Alliance
- Central City Concern
- Portland Business Alliance
- BBPDX
- Fair Housing Council of Oregon
- West Side Economic Alliance
- Washington County Thrives

Builders, funders, and housing developers:

- Bridge Housing
- Walsh Construction
- Community Partners for Affordable Housing
- Community Housing Fund
- Proud Ground
- Housing Oregon

Individuals:

- Mesha Jones, Landlord, Gresham
- Arlene Kimura, East Portland Action Plan

Partner jurisdictions and other government:

- Washington County
- Housing Authority of Clackamas County
- Home Forward
- City of Beaverton
- City of Hillsboro
- City of Gresham
- Portland Housing Bureau
- City of Milwaukie
- State of Oregon Housing and Community Services
- Clackamas County Housing Affordability and Homelessness Task Force

As the Metro Council considers this Resolution, it is also considering adoption of Ordinance 19-1430 that amends the Metro Code to establish a Housing Bond Measure Community Oversight Committee, and Resolution No. 19-4957 that appoints Community Oversight Committee members.

If the Metro Council adopts the proposed Work Plan, Metro and local implementation partners would proceed with development of Implementation Strategies. Development of the Implementation Strategies will include considerable engagement with community members, particularly communities of color and other marginalized groups.

The Implementation Strategies will then be reviewed by the Community Oversight Committee for consistency with the requirements set forth in the Work Plan and will be presented to the Metro Council and local governing bodies in summer 2019. If approved, the Implementation Strategies would then be incorporated into intergovernmental agreements between Metro and the local implementation partners.

Although the Housing Bond Measure had some opposition, staff is not aware of formal opposition to the Housing Bond Measure Work Plan submitted for Metro Council consideration.

BACKGROUND

The Work Plan that the Metro Council would adopt through the approval of this Resolution includes sections devoted to governance, the Community Oversight Committee, distribution of funds and requirements for local implementation partners, the Metro regional site acquisition program, capital investment activities, long-term monitoring of outcomes, and program operations.

Staff provided an update on Work Plan development and received Metro Council guidance at a work session on Dec. 11, 2018. An earlier update on staff efforts to scope the work plan was presented to Metro Council on Sept. 18, 2018.

ATTACHMENTS

None